CoogIE e, V. Amencan Bind & walpaper ractory, mc. Doc. 264 Att. 2
Case 5:03-cv-05340-JF Document 264-3  Filed 01/26/2007 Page 1 of 35

Exhibit B — Part 1 of 2

CHO1/PLATC/210357.1

Dockets.Justia.com


http://dockets.justia.com/docket/court-candce/case_no-5:2003cv05340/case_id-15960/
http://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/california/candce/5:2003cv05340/15960/264/2.html
http://dockets.justia.com/

Case 5:03-cv-05340-JF Document 264-3  Filed 01/26/2007 Page 2 of 35

: I ‘

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

AMERICAN BLIND AND WALLPAPER
FACTORY, INC., d/b/a
DECORATETODAY.COM, INC., a Delaware

corporation,

Plaintiff, Case No.

BLINDS FOR LESS.com LLC, d/b/a JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
WindowtreatmentsUSA. com,

Defendant.
KENN BROTMAN KENNETH A. FLASKA (P28605)
CAROLINE PLATER DAVID A. MOLLICONE (P59407)
KELLEY DRYE & WARREN LLP DAWDA, MANN, MULCAHY
Attorneys for Plaintiff & SADLER, PLC
333 West Wacker Drive Co-Counsel for Plaintiff
Suite 2600 39533 Woodward Avenue
Chicago, IL 60606 Suite 200
(312) 857-7070 Bloomfield Hills, M1 48304-2815

(248) 642-1484

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, American Blind and Wallpaper Factory, Inc., d/b/a decoratetoday.com, Inc.

(“American Blind”), by and through its counsel, Kelley Drye & Warren LLP and Dawda, Mann,
Mulcahy & Sadler, PLC and for its complaint against Blinds for Less.com LLC, d/b/a

WindowtreatmentsUSA.com (“4Less”) states as follows:

0O:\Dam'\American Blind\Blinds for Less\Complaint-doc
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Nature of Case

1. American Blind brings this action to redress the deliberate and unauthorized
conduct and business practices of 4Less whereby 4Less has infringed and diluted American
Blind’s registered trademark, “American Blind Factory.”

2. Since 1997, American Blind has continuously operated a distinctive Internet

website located, among other places, at www.americanblinds.com, through which the company

sells blinds, window treatments, wall coverings and other home decorating products and related
services. American Blind has been very successful in its use of the Internet as an effective
marketing channel and revenue generator. A large part of American Blind’s success in repeat
and referral business is attributed to the company’s website content.

3. Internet customers who are searching for a specific company product or
information, but who do not know the domain name or website address at which it may be found,
may use “keywords” and/or “search engines” to locate websites which match the keywords
sought by the customer. Keywords are the textual terms that a consumer enters to locate the
desired website or domain name. A search engine checks the keywords against its databases and

produces a search result page, which lists the websites, in order of decreasing relevance with the

__most relevant websites listed first, that match the customer’s keyword search.

4. Many search engines enable advertisers to purchase or bid on keywords that
guarantee placement/position on search result pages (i.e. American Blind may bid on the
keyword “wallpaper” on the AOL search engine so that American Blind’s website will be listed
in the first position when a customer searches for the keyword “wallpaper” to find websites that

sell wallpaper). This practice is referred to as a “pay-for-placement.”
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5. 41 ess owns and/or controls the website found at the URL www blindsforless.com

(the “4Less Site”) which is linked to its alter-ego website, URL www.windowtreatmentsusa.com,
(the “Window Site”).

6. 4L ess, through its Window Site, purchased the keywords “American Blind
Factory” on a search engine, MSN, for the advertising of the 4Less Site and Window Site. As a
result, when a customer enters the keywords “American Blind Factory” to find American Blind
and Wallpaper Factory’s website, 4Less’ alter ego website, located at URL

www.windowtreatmentsusa.com, appears and is listed in the second to top position of the search

results. (A true and accurate copy of a pay for placement display for 4Less’ website as viewed
through a web browser is attached hereto as Exhibit A.)

7. Similarly 4Less, through its Window Site, purchased the keywords
“americanblinds” on a search engine, Google, for the advertising of the 4Less Site and Window
Site. As a result, when a customer enters the keywords “americanblinds” to find American Blind

and Wallpaper Factory’s website, 4Less’ website, located at URL www .blindsforless.com

appears and is listed in the third to top position of the sponsored links search results. (A true and
accurate copy of a pay for placement display for 4Less’ website as viewed through a web

browser is attached hereto as Exhibit B.)

8. 4Less has also manipulated the Window Site and post-domain path to include
American Blind’s company ﬁame and registered trademark. (True and accurate copies of screen
shots evidencing the manipulated post-domain path are attached hereto as Exhibit C and Exhibit
D)

9. As a result of 4Less’s manipulation of the Window Site and post-domain path,

once the consumer clicks on the link for “American Blind and Wallpaper Factory” (See Exhibit
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C) in an attempt to locate ABWF or other relevant content, they are directed to an enormous
flashing banner at the top of the Window Site and instructed to “Press Go to See the Website”
(See Exhibit D). The website linked to such banner is the 4Less Site, which has no correlation to
the original keyword search for “American Blind Factory” or the use of American Blind’s mark,
«“ American Blind and Wallpaper Factory” (See Exhibit D) in such content.

10 -4Less is using the 4Less Site and Window Site to-exploit American Blind’s well-

known mark and trade off of American Blind’s goodwill.

11.  “American Blind Factory”, “American Blind and Wallpaper Factory” and
“American Blind & Wallpaper” are registered trademarks with the United States Trademark
Office owned by American Blind, which American Blind holds the exclusive rights to use.

12. American Blind has protectable rights in its trade name “American Blinds,” which
has been associated by the public with American Blind’s goods and services for several years. In
addition, American Blind has sought registration of the mark “American Blinds” with the United
States Trademark Office and such mark was recently approved for registration, and will registler

in due course. American Blind, consequently, has exclusive rights to the use of such mark.

13.  Moreover, American Blind has been vigilant in defending its marks from
infringement and dilution. - As an example, American Blind was awarded a permanent injunction
in the matter of Decoratetoday.com, Inc. v. American Blind & Accessory Co., Inc. and Directory
One, Inc., Case No. 01-CV-70804-DT, by the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Michigan, permanently enjoining the defendants from using American Blind’s

“trademarks, service marks or the word ‘American’ in any variation or combination with the

word ‘Blind’ either singular or plural....”

4.
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14.  4Less seeks to exploit the hard-earned popularity and success of American Blind.
In an attempt to illegally capitalize on American Blind’s trademarks, 4Less, purchased the
keywords “American Blind Factory” and “americanblinds” for purposes of its Internet search
engine driven advertising.

15.  Asaresult, 4Less’ website was listed on MSN as a match for searches using the
terms “American Blind Factory” and appears as a Sponsored Link. (SeIe Exhibit A, copy of pay-
for-placement display for 4Less’ website as viewed through a web browser.)

16.  4less’ website was listed on Google as a match for searches using the terms
“americanblinds” and appears as a Sponsored Link. (See Exhibit B, copy of pay-for-placement
display for 4Less’ website as viewed through a web browser.)

17.  The content of 4Less’ websites have caused consumers who specifically intended
and desired to find American Blind’s products and services, to be diverted instead to the 4Less
Site and Window Site which contains competitive products and services.

18.  4Less’ use of American Blind’s Marks in the terms “American Blind Factcry”'
and “americanblinds” to lead customers to its website created and continues to create a
likelihood of customer confusion.

19.  These deliberate acts constitute common law unfair competition, trademark

infringement under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1114(1)(a) and 1125(a), and dilution of
American Blind’s “famous” marks in violation Section 43(c) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §
1125(c).

20.  Inaddition to harming American Blind’s reputation and the value of its marks,

4Less has realized profits and other benefits rightfully belonging to American Blind.
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21. Upon being notified of its illegal conduct, 4Less did not respond to American
Blind’s requests to cease and desist. (A true and correct copy of American Blind’s cease and
desist letter to 4Less is attached hereto as Exhibit E.)

22. 4Less has ignored American Blind’s demands to cease all unauthorized use of

American Blind’s trademarks and/or words confusingly similar thereto in its keyword Internet

advertising, instruct all Internet search engines to discontinue any sponsorship for 4L ess that
utilize American Blind’s Marks and terminate all advertising using American Blind’s trademark
and marks similar thereto.

23. 4Less’ failure to comply with American Blind’s demands manifests its intent to
continue to wrongfully compete with, infringe upon and dilute American Blind's proprietary
rights in its registered marks. American Blind seeks an injunction to halt 4Less’ wrongful
conduct and award of damages as well as attorneys’ fees and expenses for 4Less’ willful and
wanton conduct.

Parties

24, American Blind is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at

909 North Sheldon Road, Plymouth, Michigan.

25.  4Less is, upon information and belief, a Texas corporation with a principal place

of business in Pearland, Texas.

26. 4L ess 1s subject to the personal jurisdiction of this Court because it transacts
business in the state of Michigan through the operation of their Internet website consisting of a

“virtual store” and have committed tortious acts in the State of Michigan.
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Jurisdiction and Venue

27. This is an action arising under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1114(1)(a), 1125(a),
and 1125(c). This Court has federal question jurisdiction over these claims pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § 1121, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338(a) and 1338(b).

28. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the state law claims, pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 1367(a).

29. Consistent with due process and the Michigan long-arm statute, M.C.L.A. §
600.715, this Court may also exercise in personam jurisdiction over 4Less because of its
purposeful conduct directed toward the State of Michigan and the injury inflicted therein.
Specifically, through its use of American Blind’s trademark in course of advertising the 4Less
website on certain Internet search engines, 4Less is deemed to have purposefully availed itself of
the privilege of transacting business in the State of Michigan.

30.  Not only has 4Less regularly solicited business through acts directed toward
consumers in Michigan, but the injury suffered by American Blind, a company headquartered in
Michigan, is deemed to have occurred in and is substantially connected to the State of Michigan.
As such, in personam jurisdiction over 4Less is proper. See, e.g., Sports Authority Michigan,

Inc. v. Justballs, Inc., 97 F. Supp. 2d 806, 812-813 (E.D. Mich. 2000) (citations omitted).

31.  Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) in that a
substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this district and American

Blind is a resident of this district.
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Facts Common to All Claims

32.  Since 1986, American Blind has been using and promoting its corporate name —
“American Blind and Wallpaper Factory” -- in the home decorating business. American Blind
offers a variety of products for sale, including blinds, window treatments, wall coverings and

other home decorating products and related services.

33. American Blind is recognized and well known in the home decorating industry
and to consumers nationwide as “American Blind”.
34.  American Blind is the owner of and has the exclusive rights to use the following

trademarks and service marks registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office:

Mark Reg. Number Reg. Date
AMERICAN BLIND AND 2,2991,126 9/6/05
WALLPAPER FACTORY

AMERICAN BLINDS 2,923,867 2/1/05
WALLPAPER & MORE

DECORATETODAY 2,470,542 7/17/01
AMERICAN BLIND & 2,022,925 12/17/96
WALLPAPER FACTORY

AMERICAN BLIND FACTORY 1,463,548 11/3/87

(True and accurate copies of proof of these registrations are attached hereto as Exhibit F.)
35.  Additionally, American Blind has protectable rights in its trade name “American
Blinds.” American Blind has sought registration of the mark AMERICAN BLINDS with the

' United States Trademark Office and such mark was recently approved for registration and will

register in due course.

36.  The foregoing service marks and trademarks are hereinafter collectively referred

to as the “American Blind Marks”.
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37.  American Blind is the largest direct to customer retailer of window treatments and
wall coverings in the United States and on the Internet. American Blind, through its predecessor
companies, has been in the home decorating business for over a half century.

38.  American Blind sells and promotes its home decorating products and related
services to nearly seven million customers across the United States through its toll-free telephone
numbers and its website. “American Blind processes over 400,000 tran§actions per year over the
internet, eighty percent of which are from repeat and referral business.

39.  American Blind spends miliions of dollars each year advertising its brand,
including advertising in over forty national magazines, on every major search engine, on national
television and radio and through millions of direct mailings and catalogs distributed throughout
the United States. American Blind has historically spent in excess of $50,000,000 promoting its
name and image, developing its reputation and goodwill, and policing and protecting its name,
website, and the American Blind Marks.

40.  Asaresult of long and continuous use by American Blind in connection with the
sale of blinds, window treatments, wall coverings and other home decorating products and
related services and extensive marketing, advertising, and sales by American Blind throughout

the United States, the American Blind Marks have become “famous” and distinctive.

41.  Moreover, the term “American” along with the terms “blinds” and/or “wallpaper”
have gained a secondary meaning such that the combination of these terms serves to identify
American Blind and its products and services in the minds of consumers.

42.  Since 1997, American Blind has extensively utilized the Internet as a marketing

channel for its home decorating business, including the sale of blinds, window treatments, wall
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coverings and other home decorating products and related services. American Blind has spent in
excess of $10,000,000 developing its Internet presence since 1997.

43. 4L ess offers its products for sale to Internet users in the United States. 4Less sold
its products to consumers in the State of Michigan.

44.  Upon information and belief, 4Less has purchased the keywords “American Blind
Factory” and “americanblinds” on certain Internet search engines, including but not limited to,

MSN and Google.

45. By purchasing keywords from an Internet search engine, 4Less ensured that its

websites, www blindsforless.com and www.windowtreatmentsusa.com, will appear at or near the
top of the results page and as a Sponsored Link for searches wherein the keywords “American
Blind Factory” and “americanblinds” are entered. (See Exhibits A and B.)

46. In or about January 2006, American Blind became aware of 4Less’ unauthorized
use of the American Blind Marks in their Internet search engine driven advertising.

47. On January 11, 2006, American Blind, through its attorneys, issued a letter to
4Less, demanding that 4Less immediately cease and desist from using American Blind’s |
trademarks in its Internet website advertising. (See Exhibit E.)

48. On or about June 26, 2006, American Blind again became aware of 4L ess’

unauthorized use of the American Blind Marks in their Internet search engine driven advertising.

(See Exhibit B.)

49  4Less created consumer confusion and improperly used and diluted American

Blind’s trademarked names by purchasing the keywords “American Blind Factory” and

“americanblinds” and has failed to proffer any good faith basis for its actions.

-10-
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50.  4Less’ failure to comply with American Blind’s demands manifests its intention

not to comply with American Blind’s requests and its intention to continue its illegal conduct.
v COUNT 1
(Common Law Unfair Competition)

51.  American Blind hereby restates and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1
through 50 above, as though fully set forth herein.

52. The American Blind Marks were famous and distinctive at the time of 4Less’ use
and purchase of use of the marks and/or terms confusingly similar thereto as keywords.

53.  American Blind and 4Less are both in the home decorating business, offering
substantially similar products for sale, including blinds, shades and other home decorating
products and related services.

54.  The keywords purchased by 4Less, “American Blind Factory” and
“americanblinds,” are confusingly similar to the American Blind Marks by incorporating at least
two or more of the words used in the American Blind Marks.

55.  When customers using the Internet and a search engine do not know the exact
website address for a product they are looking for, they often use terms in the name of the

product to locate that products website.

56. By using the American Blind Marks and/or terms confusingly similar thereto as
its keywords, 4Less has caused a likelihood of consumer confusion.

57.  Consumer confusion is compounded by the fact that American Blind and 4Less
use the same mérketing channels by primarily focusing on consumer contact via the Internet.

58. 4Less has purchased a sponsored link listing for the use of the keywords

« American Blind Factory” and “americanblinds” on certain Internet search engines, including
) > o

-11-
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MSN and Google. As aresult, 4Less’ website appears at or near the top of the list of search
results when these keywords are searched by a customer.

59. By purchasing these keywords, 4Less has manipulated customers’ searches for
American Blind’s website, so that customers will be diverted from American Blind’s website

and, instead, purchase from 4Less the same goods sought from American Blind.

60. 4Less’ actions manifest and continue to manifest a bad faith intent to profit from
the American Blind Marks by diverting and confusing customers who attempt to locate and
access American Blind’s goods and services through the Internet.

61. 4Less’ acts constitute unfair competition with American Blind.

62. The aforementioned conduct of 4Less is intentional, malicious and wanton in that
4Less specifically purchased and used American Blind’s registered Marks and/or terms
confusingly similar thereto, as keywords for Internet search engine generated searches to locate
4Less’ websites: (a) with full knowledge that American Blind owns and has the exclusive right
to use the American Blind Marks, (b) with the intention of profiting from the American Blind
Marks, (c) with the intention of eliminating competition from American Blind, and (d) after
notice from American Blind to cease their unfair competition.

63,  Asaresult of 4Less’ aforementioned conduct, American Blind has suffered and

continues to suffer substantial losses of revenue and irreparable harm, unless said conduct is

enjoined by this Court.

COUNTII
(Federal Trademark Infringement)
64.  American Blind hereby restates and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1

through 63 above as though fully set forth herein.

-12-
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65. Without authorization from American Blind, 4Less has used the American Blind
Marks and/or confusingly similar terms to indirectly sell, offer to sell and advertise window
blinds and other window treatments and related services through 4Less’ Internet website.

66.  4Less’ use of the American Blind Marks and/or terms confusingly similar thereto

as search terms to direct consumers to 4Less’ Internet websites, to indirectly sell, offer to sell and

advertise window blinds and other window treatments and related services, has caused and is
likely to continue to cause consumer confusion, mistake gnd deception as to the affiliation,
connection, or association of 4Less with American Blind, and as to the origin, sponsorship, or
- approval of 4Less’ goods and services by American Blind.

67.  4Less’ unauthorized acts constitute direct infringements of American Blind’s
rights in the American Blind Marks in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(a).

68. The aforementioned conduct of 4Less is intentional, malicious and wanton in that
4Less infringed and continues to infringe on the Américan Blind Marks: (a) with full knowledge
that American Blind owns and has the exclusive right to use the American Blind Marks, (b) with
the intention of causing a likelihood of confusion and mistake and to deceive, (c) with the
intention of eliminating competition from American Blind, and (d) after notice from American

Blind to cease their infringing activities.

69.  Asaresult of 4Less’ aforementioned conduct, American Blind has suffered, and
continues to suffer, substantial losses of revenue and irreparable harm, unless said conduct is

enjoined by this Court.
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COUNT 11
(Federal Trademark Infringement, False Designation of Origin, and Unfair Competition)
70. American Blind hereby restates and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 63 above, as though fully set forth herein.

71.  Notwithstanding American Blind’s well known prior use and prior statutory and

common-law rights in the American Blind Marks, 4Less has used and gontinues to use in
connection with pay-for-placements on the Internet, substantially identical marks and/or terms
confusingly similar to those owed by American Blind, namely, “American Blind Factory” and
“americanblinds.”

72. 4Less’ use of these keywords has always been without American Blind’s consént.

73.  Inthe past, one of 4Less’ websites appeared in the second placement on a search
for the keywords “American Blind Factory” on certain Internet search engine sites, including but
not limited to MSN and appeared in the third placement spot for sponsored links on a search for
the keywords “americanblinds” on certain Internet search engine sites, including but not limited
to Google. (See Exhibits A and B.)

74. 4Less’ use of the American Blind Marks and/or terms confusingly similar thereto

as keywords for Internet advertising to indirectly sell, offer to sell and advertise window blinds

and other window treatments and related services through 4Less’ Internet websites has caused
and is likely to cause consumer confusion, mistake and deception as to the affiliation,
connection, or association of 4Less with American Blind, and as to the origin, sponsorship, or
approval of 4Less’ goods and services by American Blind, when in fact 4Less has no connection

whatsoever with American Blind in regard to such website.

-14-
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75.  4Less’ unauthorized acts constitute infringements of American Blind’s rights in
the American Blind Marks, false advertising, false representation, and false designation of origin
in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(2).

76. The aforementioned conduct of 4Less is intentional, malicious and wanton in that

4L ess has infringed and continues to infringe on the American Blind Marks: (a) with full

knowledge that American Blind owns and has the exclusive right to use the American Blind
Marks, (b) with the intention of causing a likelihood of confusion and mistake and to deceive, (c)
with the intention of eliminating competition from American Blind, and (d) after notice from
American Blind to cease their infringing activities.

77. As a result of 4Less’ aforementioned conduct, American Blind has suffered, and
continues to suffer, substantial losses of revenue and irreparable harm, unless said conduct is
enjoined by this Court.

COUNT IV
(Federal Trademark Dilution)
78.  American Blind hereby restates and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1

through 63 above, as though fully set forth herein.

79. 4Less’ use of American Blind’s Marks and/or terms confusingly similar thereto,

in connection with their pay-for-placement Internet advertising on certain Internet search engine
sites, including but not limited to MSN and Google, has caused and continues to cause dilution
of the distinctive quality of the “famous” American Blind Marks.

80. 4L ess’ acts constitute dilution of the American Blind Marks in violation of 15

U.S.C. §11250).

-15-
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81. The aforementioned conduct of 4Less is intentional, malicious and wanton in that
4Less’ use of the American Blind Marks and/or terms confusingly similar thereto as keywords
for Internet advertising to indirectly sell, offer to sell and advertise window blinds and other
window treatments and related services through 4Less’ Internet websites: (a) with full
knowledge that American Blind owns and has exclusive rights to use the American Blind Marks,
(b) with the intention of diluting the distinctive quality of the Americaq Blind Marks, (c) with the
intention of eliminating competition from American Blind, and (d) after notice from American
Blind to cease their diluting activities.

82. As a result of 4Less’ aforementioned conduct, American Blind has suffered, and

continues to suffer, substantial losses of revenue and irreparable harm, unless said conduct is

enjoined by this Court.

Praver for Relief

WHEREFORE, as to all Counts of this Complaint, 4Less will continue its unlawful
activities unless enjoined and American Blind's remedy at law is inadequate; and
WHEREFORE, as to all Counts of this Complaint, American Blind requests:

(A)  Injunctive relief in the form of an order prohibiting 4Less and its officers,

partiiers, agents, subcontractors, servants, employees, subsidiaries and related companies or

entities, and all others acting in concert or participating with it from:

(1) directly or indirectly selling, offering for sale, distributing, or advertising
window blinds or other goods or services related to window treatments by
use of the American Blind Marks and/or terms confusingly similar thereto
in their paid Internet advertising through Internet search engines, which 1s

likely to cause consumer confusion, mistake, or deception with respect to

-16-




»
»

(i1)

Case 5:03-cv-05340-JF Document 264-3  Filed 01/26/2007 - Page 18 of 35

the American Blind Marks; and

directly or indirectly selling, offering for sale, distributing, or advertising
window blinds or other goods or services related to window treatments by
use of “American Blind Factory” and “americanblinds” or any other

substantially identical terms to the American Blind Marks in their paid

Internet advertising through Internet search engines which is likely to
cause consumer confusion, mistake, or deception with or with respect to

the American Blind Marks;

(B)  Injunctive relief in the form of an order requiring 4Less to immediately contact all

Internet search engines and terminate all advertising using American Blind’s Marks and/or terms

confusingly similar thereto as keywords for locating 4Less’ websites;

(C)  That 4Less and its officers, partners, agents, servants, employees, subsidiaries and

related companies or entities, and all others acting in concert or participating with it, be

permanently enjoined from:

@)

(ii)

further use of the American Blind Marks and/or terms confusingly similar

thereto; and

engaging in any other act constituting unfair competition or deceptive

practices with American Blind or constituting an infringement of

American Blind’s rights in and to the American Blind Marks; and

(D)  That 4Less be required to reimburse American Blind for all actual damages and

lost sales suffered by American Blind by reason of 4Less’ illegal conduct, as well as any profits

of 4Less that are attributable to 4Less’ unfair competition, dilution and infringement not taken

-17-
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into account in computing the actual damages, and that punitive damages be awarded as

authorized under the law;
(E)  That 4Less be required to pay all of American Blind’s attorneys’ fees, expenses
and costs associated with this action pursuant to the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §1117; and

(F)  That this Court grants such other and further relief as this Court may deem just

and equitable.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial on all claims and on all issues triable by a jury.

Dated: July 10, 2006 ?am?lly su:mitted,

KENN BROTMAN

CAROLINE PLATER

KELLEY DRYE & WARREN LLP
333 W. Wacker Dr.

Suite 2600

Chicago, IL 60606

(312) 857-7070

KENNETH A. FLASKA (P28605)
DAVID A. MOLLICONE (P59407)
DAWDA, MANN, MULCAHY

& SADLER, PLC

39533 Woodward Avenue

Suite 200

Bloomfield Hills, M1 48304-2815
(248) 642-1484

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF

AMERICAN BLIND AND
WALLPAPER FACTORY, INC.
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BANGKOK, YHAILAND

JAKARTA. INDONESIA
MUMBAL, INDIA v
TOXKYO. JAPAN

January 11, 2006 .

V1A FACSIMILE 281-997-6552
Via EMAIL: CUSTOM ERSERV]CE@.BL]NDSFORLESS.COM;

CARMELLABS@WINDOWTREATMENTSUSA.COM

BY CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Dylan Acaylar

Shiaron Acaylar

Blinds for Less.com, LLC
1102 Barkly Court
Pearland, TX 77581 -2456

éarmella Belter
4551 Greece Square
Hazel Park, Ml 48030

Re: Unauthorized Use of American Blind and wallpaper Factory, Inc.’s Trademarks

Dear Ms. Acalyar, Ms. Belter and Mr. Acaylar:

‘ We are counsel to American Blind and Wallpaper Factory, Inc. (“ABWF”). We
" have been instructed to contact you concerning your company’s business practices that iﬁ; true
constitute violations of state and federal Jaw. Your company Blinds for Less.com LL’C dfb/,
“WindowTreatmemsUSA.com” (“4Less”) has engaged, and continues to engage, in ’conduét maf
as described below, infringes upon ABWF’s irademarks and has harmed AiBWF’s busines,
interests and reputation. For the reasons stated below, we demand that you immediately ceasz

these activities.

Our investigation has revealed 4Less owns and/or controls the website found at
the URL www .blindsforless.com (the “*4Less Site”) which is linked to its alter-ego website

CHO]/CARTS/ZO‘%SSO.!
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KELLEY DRYE & WARREN LLP

Dylan Acaylar

Shiaron Acaylar

Carmella Belter

Blinds For Less.com, LLC )
January 11,2006

Page 2

Jocated at URL www.windowtreatmentsusa.com (the «window Site”). Our review of the MSN

search engine reveals that 4Less through its Window Site has purchased keywords identical to
ABWF's registered wrademark, “American Blind Factory” for the advertising of the 4Less Site
and Window Site in disregard of ABWF’s intellectual property Tights. See attached -copies of
screen shots generated from the MSN search engine. As you can see, inputting the term

“american blind factory” on MSN produced the Window Site in the 2™ position evidencing its
paid placement for such term (See Exhibit A). Moreover, 4Less has manipulated the Window

Site content and post-domain path:

uwindov\nreatmentsusa.corn/AMER]CAN_BLIND_AND”WALLPAPER_FACI‘ ORY .shtn »
10 include our client’s company name and registered trademark (See Exhibits B-C).

In addition and even more egregious than the foregoing conduct is the fact that

once the consumer clicks on the link for “American Blind and Wallpaper Factory” (See Exhibits -

-1 and B-2) in an atternpt to locate ABWF or other relevant content, they are directed to an

B 3 . . -
enormous flashing banner at the top of the Window Site and instructed to “Press Go to See the

Website” (See Exhibit C-1). The website linked to such banner is none other than the 4Less
Sjte—which has 1o correlation to the original keyword search for “American Blind Factory” or
the use of our client’s mark, “American Blind and Wallpaper Factory” (See Exhibit C-2) in such
content. As 4Less nO doubt intended, its 4Less Site and Window Site are being used to exploit
ABWEF’s well-known mark and trade off of ABWF’s goodwill. 1t is clear that the content of
4Less’ websites has caused, and is continuing to cause, -onsumers who specifically intend and

desire to find
window _Site which contains competitive products and services. Consequently, your

ABWF’s products and services, 1o be diverted instead to the 4Less Site and

conspiratorial conduct in protecting 4Less™ identity-is allowing 4Less to dilute the ability of

ABWEF’s trademarks, « American Blind Factory” and “American Blind and Wallpaper Factory”,

10 jdentify ABWF as a source of its goods and services.

«American Blind Factory” (Reg. No. 1,463,548) and “American Blind and
Wallpaper F actory” (Reg. No. 2,022,925) are federally registered marks on the Principal Register
of the United States Trademark Office owned by our client. ABWF, consequently, has exclusive
rights to the use of such marks. In addition, “American Blind and Wallpaper Factory” is our
client’s company name that has been in use for decades, and our client is recognized in the home
decorating industry and to consumers nationwide as «American Blind Factory.” Many of
ABWF’s competitors have exploited the notoriety and success of ABWF, and flagrantly
attempted 10 confuse consuiiers and capitalize illegally on ABWTF’s goodwill and reputation by
purchasing identical or substantially similar keywords from search engines. Therefore, ABWF
must be vigilantin defending its marks from infringement and dilution.

CHQUCARTS/”JG-'?S&OJ
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Carmella Belter

Blinds For Less.coml, LLC
January 11, 2006

Page 3

1

One effect of your conduct is that consumers using an Internet search engine to
find authorized ‘ABWF products and services will be confused and/or deceived into visiting
4Less’ websites. This practice is illegal and clearly violates state and federal law. Indeed, the
federal Lanham Act and various state statutes prohibit- such infringing and diluting use of
ABWEF’s trademarks. We believe that federal and state law provide immediate relief, in the event

Jegal action should prove necessary.

Accordingly, we demand that you immediately: (1) remove “american blind and
wallpaper factory” from your post-domain path in any URL, directly or indirectly, owned or
controlled by Yyou: (2) remove “‘american blind and wallpaper factory” from the content
(including metatags) of all websites, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by you; (3)
jdentify the Prohibited ABWF Marks (as set forth below) as negative keywords on all search
which you currently have or may have in the future, a contract, agreement or

engines with
display any web site, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by you; and @

arrangement to
horized use of the Prohibited ABWF Marks in the content, post-domain path

cease all unaut )
and/or metatags of all websites which you, directly or indirectly, own or control.

Prohibited ABWF Marks
(a) American Blind(s) and Wallpaper(s) Factory;
(b) American Blind(s) and Wallpaper(s) Factories;
© American Blind(s);
(d) American Blind(s), Wallpaper(s) & More;

(e) American Blind(s) raciory,

® American Blind(s) Factories;

(g)  American Wallpaper(s) Factory;

(h) Arnerican Wallpaper(s) Factories;

() American Blind(s) and Wallpaper(s);

G) American Wallpaper(s); and

(x)  Decoratetoday or Decorate(s) Today.

In addition, ABWF further demands thal you enier inic & Setilement Agreement
with ABWF to evidence your good faith in ceasing the foregoing conduct, and reimburse its

attorneys’ fees.

CH'G!/CARTS/20-‘«5SO.I
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Blinds For Less.com, LLC
January 11, 2006

Page 4

1t is our sincere hope that you will cooperate with ABWF. and take immediate

steps 1o terminate these harmful practices that have been brought to your attention. We are
confident that the above stated illegal acts are not something with which your company wishes to

be associated, and that you will promptly discontinue using ABWF'’s trademarks. Given the -

seriousness of the matter 1o ABWF, we ask that you let us know your intentions by close of
business on Monday, January 16, 2006. 1f we do not receive a timely response from you, we will
advise our client to pursue its legal remedies.

Thank you in advance for your prompt attention to this matter.

Sincerely, /

SIG/sec
cc: Steve Katzman (via email)

CHOVC ARTS/204580. i
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American 8lind and walipaper Factory information at windowtreaumentsusa.Com.
All discounts figured

Amernican Blind and Wallpaper Factory available sbove.
No codes to remambaer, No cumbersome rebate
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Fces ang customer service that is

m . :ewnd to smonel That's our
guarantee to you. .

we have » wide selection of custom
blinds and wingow treatmems built
to your specfications end shipped
directly to youU” home or office, Cur
products include Foux wood,
fAeasuring - Barswood, Aluminum Biinds,
dnstrucuons vertical Blinds, Arches, Woven

€ ks - wood Shedes and Fabric Roman
"aﬁ‘?{%‘égns RG] Shedes. Qur products coma in & ,
d | Variety of sizes and colors to fit 3l
fassional I your window treatment needs.
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